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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements (unaudited)

Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
 (In thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts)
(unaudited)

September
30, 2013

December
31, 2012

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $11,830 $13,031
Investments in marketable securities 247 247
Accounts receivable, net 10,104 4,860
Income receivable 7,306 7,466
Deferred tax assets 19 37
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 14,139 10,890
Restricted cash 250 2,000
Total current assets 43,895 38,531
Deferred costs 4,188 4,665
Fixed assets, net 52,879 52,686
Intangible assets, net 58,867 38,143
Goodwill 66,548 47,000
Loan receivable related to New Markets Tax Credit financing 7,633 7,633
Other assets 1,066 740
Restricted cash 2,500 1,500
Total assets $237,576 $190,898

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $3,122 $3,756
Accrued expenses 31,974 12,526
Contingent consideration, current portion - 2,230
Deferred tax liabilities - 356
Deferred revenue 22,014 16,027
Total current liabilities 57,110 34,895
Deferred revenue and other non-current liabilities 2,349 2,517
Loan payable and deferred contribution related to New Markets Tax Credit financing 9,258 9,490
Debt 100,000 80,000
Contingent consideration, non-current portion - 3,520
Deferred tax liabilities 3,982 2,764
Total liabilities 172,699 133,186
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)

Stockholders' equity:
60 59
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Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 58,914,697 shares issued
and 47,001,671 shares outstanding at September 30, 2013; 58,045,404 shares issued and
46,660,781 shares outstanding at December 31, 2012
Additional paid-in capital 179,511 174,218
Treasury stock, 11,913,026 and 11,384,623 shares at September 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012, respectively (137,899) (131,903)
Retained earnings 23,205 15,338
Total stockholders' equity 64,877 57,712
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $237,576 $190,898

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
1
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts)
(unaudited)

Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenue:
Account revenue $33,234 $35,660 $102,541 $112,803
Payment transaction revenue 14,615 8,342 27,402 17,843
Higher education institution revenue 9,008 5,946 23,874 14,597
Other revenue 255 1,279 698 2,678
Revenue 57,112 51,227 154,515 147,921
Cost of revenue 24,999 21,838 65,193 60,303
Gross margin 32,113 29,389 89,322 87,618
Operating expenses:
General and administrative 16,404 11,902 43,069 34,205
Product development 2,822 1,380 7,161 3,371
Sales and marketing 4,884 3,182 12,723 8,995
Litigation settlement and related costs 16,320 - 16,320 -
Merger and acquisition related (326 ) 1,042 (4,791 ) 1,042
Total operating expenses 40,104 17,506 74,482 47,613
Income (loss) from operations (7,991 ) 11,883 14,840 40,005
Interest income 19 23 58 87
Interest expense (857 ) (185 ) (2,252 ) (402 )
Other income 406 77 561 232
Net income (loss) before income taxes (8,423 ) 11,798 13,207 39,922
Income tax expense (benefit) (2,929 ) 4,480 5,340 15,164
Net income (loss) $(5,494 ) $7,318 $7,867 $24,758

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders:
Basic $(5,494 ) $7,318 $7,867 $24,758
Diluted $(5,494 ) $7,318 $7,867 $24,758

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 46,907,493 54,511,509 46,630,343 54,837,154
Diluted 46,907,493 57,246,289 48,360,447 57,903,692

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders per
common share:
Basic $(0.12 ) $0.13 $0.17 $0.45
Diluted $(0.12 ) $0.13 $0.16 $0.43

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
2
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Equity
 (In thousands of dollars, except shares)
(unaudited)

Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-in Treasury Retained Stockholders'
Shares Amount Capital Stock Earnings Equity

Balance at December 31, 2012 46,660,781 $ 59 $ 174,218 $(131,903) $ 15,338 $ 57,712
Stock-based compensation - - 3,384 - - 3,384
Issuance of restricted stock 70,882 - - - - -
Tax benefit related to options - - 796 - - 796
Repurchase of common stock (528,403 ) - - (5,996 ) - (5,996 )
Exercise of stock options 798,411 1 1,113 - - 1,114
Net income - - - - 7,867 7,867
Balance at September 30, 2013 47,001,671 $ 60 $ 179,511 $(137,899) $ 23,205 $ 64,877

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
3
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
 (In thousands of dollars)
(unaudited)

Nine months ended
September 30,
2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $7,867 $24,758
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash  provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 10,587 7,336
Amortization of deferred finance costs 332 102
Non-cash fair value adjustment of contingent consideration (5,750 ) 310
Stock-based compensation 3,261 3,226
Deferred income taxes 880 (1,755 )
Income tax benefit related to exercise of stock options (796 ) (2,796 )
Other income (232 ) (233 )
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 8 35
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (4,474 ) (2,624 )
Income receivable 160 (3,029 )
Deferred costs (920 ) (703 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 51 12,997
Other assets (337 ) (114 )
Accounts payable (634 ) 799
Accrued expenses 20,363 (3,566 )
Deferred revenue 5,819 3,708
Net cash provided by operating activities 36,185 38,451
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of available for sale investment securities - (11,230)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of available for sale investment securities - 26,728
Purchases of fixed assets, net of changes in payables of ($153) and ($11,799), respectively (4,563 ) (22,499)
Cash paid for acquired businesses (47,250) (37,280)
Additions to internal use software (2,237 ) (2,061 )
Amounts received from restricted cash 2,000 -
Deposits to restricted cash (1,250 ) (2,615 )
Proceeds from development related subsidies - 330
Net cash used in investing activities (53,300) (48,627)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit 52,000 30,000
Repayments of line of credit (32,000) -
Excess tax benefit related to stock options 796 2,796
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,114 2,939
Purchases of common stock (5,996 ) (37,600)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 15,914 (1,865 )
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (1,201 ) (12,041)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 13,031 39,085
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $11,830 $27,044

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
4
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Statements
 (unaudited)

1.  Nature of Business and Organization

Higher One Holdings, Inc., or HOH, is a leading provider of technology, data analytics and payment services to the
higher education industry. HOH, through its subsidiaries, provides a comprehensive suite of disbursement, payment
and data analytics solutions specifically designed for higher education institutions and their students and has
developed and acquired proprietary software-based solutions to provide these services. HOH is incorporated in
Delaware and maintains its headquarters in New Haven, Connecticut. HOH has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Higher
One, Inc., or HOI, which has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Higher One Machines, Inc., or HOMI, and Higher One
Real Estate, Inc., or Real Estate Inc.  HOI and HOMI together own 99% of Higher One Financial Technology Private
Limited, or HOFTPL.  Real Estate Inc. has a 98% ownership interest in Higher One Real Estate SP, LLC, or Real
Estate LLC.  HOMI and HOFTPL perform certain of our operational support functions. Real Estate Inc. and Real
Estate LLC were each formed to hold and operate certain of our real estate. The terms “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company” or
“Higher One,” unless the context otherwise requires, mean Higher One Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

2.  Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the related interim information
contained within the notes to such condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP, and the applicable rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, for interim information and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q.

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a consistent basis with the audited
consolidated financial statements included in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012,
and in the opinion of management, include all normal recurring adjustments that are necessary for the fair statement of
our interim period results reported herein.  The December 31, 2012 condensed consolidated balance sheet data was
derived from audited financial statements but does not include all disclosures required by GAAP.  Due to seasonal
fluctuations and other factors, the results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 are
not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect our financial position and results of operations,
including our majority and wholly-owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated in consolidation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make significant estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods. Actual results could materially differ from management’s estimates.

Basic and Diluted Net Income Available to Common Stockholders per Common Share
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Basic net income per common share excludes dilution for potential common stock issuances and is computed by
dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding for the period.  Diluted net income per common share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if
securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock.  For the
calculation of diluted net income per common share, the basic weighted-average number of shares is increased by the
dilutive effect of restricted stock, warrants and stock options using the treasury-stock method.  The treasury-stock
method assumes that the options or warrants are exercised at the beginning of the year (or date of issue if later), and
that we use those proceeds to purchase common stock for treasury at the average price for the reporting period.

The effect of stock options and warrants to purchase our common stock totaling 6,734,803 and 2,022,512 were not
included in the computation of diluted net income (loss) per common share for the three months ended September 30,
2013 and 2012, respectively, as their effect would be anti-dilutive. The dilutive effect of stock options and warrants
totaling 4,293,387 and 1,936,438 were not included in the computation of diluted net income per common share for
the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, as their effect would be anti-dilutive. Anti-dilutive
securities are securities that upon conversion or exercise increase earnings per share (or reduce the loss per share).  In
periods when we recognize a net loss, we exclude the impact of outstanding stock awards from the diluted loss per
share calculation as their inclusion would have an antidilutive effect.
5
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Statements
 (unaudited)

Comprehensive Income

There are no comprehensive income items other than net income (loss). There are no recorded unrealized gains or
losses on the investments in marketable securities as of the balance sheet dates.  Comprehensive income equals net
income for all periods presented.

Restricted Cash and Other Arrangements

During the three months ended September 30, 2013, we deposited $1.3 million in a restricted cash account with a
former bank partner.

We accept payments on behalf of educational institutions and subsequently remit these payments to the education
institutions. The amounts received are maintained in segregated accounts for the benefit of either the institution or the
payor. There were approximately $368.2 million and $251.8 million of such funds as of September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively. These deposits are not our funds and therefore are not included in the accompanying
condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

There were no accounting standards adopted during 2012 or during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 which
had a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.  There are no new
accounting standards issued but not yet effective which we expect to have a material impact on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations, liquidity or disclosure.

3.  Investments in Marketable Securities and Fair Value Measurements

The following table reflects the assets and liabilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis (in thousands):

Total

Quoted
Prices in
Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
 (Level
1)

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Fair values at September 30, 2013
Assets:
Certificate of deposit $247 $ – $ 247 $ –
Contingently returnable escrow receivable 3,300 – – 3,300
Total Assets $3,547 $ – $ 247 $ 3,300

Liabilities:
Contingent consideration $– $ – $ – $ –
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Fair values at December 31, 2012
Assets:
Certificate of deposit $247 $ – $ 247 $ –

Liabilities:
Contingent consideration $5,750 $ – $ – $ 5,750
6
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Statements
 (unaudited)

A summary of the activity of the fair value of the measurements using unobservable inputs (Level 3 Assets and
Liabilities) for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, is as follows (in thousands):

Beginning
Value of
Level 3
Measurements

New Level 3
Measurements

Gain
Recognized
in Earnings

Ending Fair
Value of
Level 3
Measurements

Contingently returnable escrow receivable $ - $ 3,300 $ - $ 3,300
Contingent consideration $ 5,750 $ (5,750 ) $ -

Our contingently returnable escrow receivable is valued using probability-weighted, future possible expected
outcomes.  The unobservable input utilized in the determination of this receivable is our estimation of which clients
subject to the escrow agreement will assign their contracts to us (refer to "Note 8 - Business Combinations" for
additional information related to this arrangement).  The range of amounts which we may receive from escrow is
between $0 and $4.5 million.  All amounts are expected to be distributed out of escrow by December 2013. The
contingently returnable escrow receivable is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the condensed
consolidated balance sheet.

Our contingent consideration liability is valued using probability-weighted, future possible expected outcomes and an
appropriate discount rate.  The unobservable input utilized in the determination of this liability is our estimation of the
range of revenues which will be achieved by the Campus Labs business during 2013.  The approximate range of
revenues utilized to estimate the contingent consideration liability was below $12.5 million as of September 30, 2013,
which is below the minimum threshold for payout. During the three months ending September 30, 2013, we adjusted
the range of revenues utilized to estimate the contingent consideration liability to reflect our current best estimates
regarding the revenue to be earned by the Campus Labs business during 2013. The $5.8 million adjustment recognized
in earnings during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was recorded in the merger and acquisition related line
item in the consolidated statement of operations. The contingent consideration liability is sensitive to changes in our
estimate of revenues to be achieved by the Campus Labs business during 2013.  For each $0.2 million increase or
decrease in the estimated revenues to be achieved by the Campus Labs business during 2013, the contingent
consideration liability would increase or decrease by approximately $0.7 million (undiscounted).

We had no unrealized gains or losses from investments as of December 31, 2012 or September 30, 2013 and there is
no difference between the amortized cost and fair value of the securities we held. The carrying amounts of our cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximates fair value because of the
short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying amount of our debt outstanding under our credit facility
approximates fair value because we recently entered into this loan agreement and is a Level 2 measurement. Our loan
receivable related to New Markets Tax Credit financing is a debt instrument that we classify as held to maturity and is
recorded at amortized cost.  The carrying value of both our loan receivable and loan payable related to New Markets
Tax Credit financing approximates fair value as of September 30, 2013.  Our loan payable and loan receivable related
to New Markets Tax Credit financing was estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on rates for similar
types of arrangements and are considered Level 3 measurements.

4.  Real Estate Development Project

At the end of 2011, we moved our headquarters into two commercial buildings located in New Haven, Connecticut.
 We have provided two guarantees related to this real estate development project. We provided a guaranty to the State
of Connecticut Department of Economic and Community Development related to our obligation to repay the amounts
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which were granted to us if we fail to meet certain criteria. The maximum potential amount of future payments of this
guaranty is approximately $5.9 million.  We also provided a guaranty related to tax credits that are expected to be
generated by an investment made by an unrelated entity into the real estate development project. In the event that we
cause either a recapture or disallowance of the tax credits expected to be generated under this program, we will be
required to repay the disallowed or recaptured tax credits plus an amount sufficient to pay the taxes on such
repayment, to the counterparty of the guaranty agreement. This guaranty will remain in place through 2018. The
maximum potential amount of future payments of this guaranty is approximately $6.0 million.

We currently believe that the requirement to make a payment under either of the guaranties described above is remote
and we have thus not recorded any liability on our balance sheet in connection with these guaranties.
7
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Statements
 (unaudited)

5.  Credit Facility

On October 16, 2012, HOI entered into a five-year, $200.0 million, senior secured revolving credit facility, or the
Credit Facility. As of September 30, 2013, there were $100.0 million in borrowings outstanding, at a weighted
average interest rate of 2.4%, under the Credit Facility.  We amended the Credit Facility in November 2013 to exclude
from our financial covenant calculations the loss related to the settlement of class action lawsuits (refer to "Note 7 -
Commitments and Contingencies" for additional information regarding the class action lawsuits).  We are in
compliance with all of the applicable affirmative, negative and financial covenants of the Credit Facility.  The amount
available to be drawn under the Credit Facility may be increased by an additional $100.0 million upon our request and
the agreement of the lenders party to the Credit Facility.  The Credit Facility permits the issuance of letters of credit of
up to $20.0 million and swing line loans of up to $10.0 million to fund working capital needs.  Loans drawn under the
Credit Facility are payable in a single maturity on October 16, 2017.

6.  Capital Stock

Treasury Stock

On August 1, 2012, our board of directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which we were
permitted to repurchase up to $100.0 million of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock through August
15, 2013.  During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we purchased 528,403 shares of our common stock at a
cost of $6.0 million.  All shares repurchased were held in treasury as of September 30, 2013.  We do not have an
authorized share repurchase program as of September 30, 2013.

7.  Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time we are subject to litigation relating to matters in the ordinary course of business, as well as
regulatory examinations, information gathering requests, inquiries and investigations.

We are a defendant in a series of putative class action lawsuits. The cases are as follows: Ashley Parker, et al. v.
Higher One Holdings, Inc. et al., filed on July 3, 2012 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Mississippi, Eastern Division; Jeanette Price et al. v. Higher One Holdings, Inc. et al., filed on July 27, 2012 in the
United States District Court for the District of Connecticut; John Brandon Kent et al. v. Higher One Holdings, Inc. et
al., filed on August 17, 2012 in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Alabama, Northern
Division; Jonathan Lanham et al. v. Higher One Holdings, Inc. et al., filed on October 2, 2012 in the United States
District Court for the Western District of Kentucky, Louisville Division; Aisha DeClue et al. v. Higher One, Inc., et
al., filed on November 5, 2012 in the St. Louis County Circuit Court of Missouri; and Jill Massey et al. v. Higher One
Holdings, Inc. et al., filed on November 6, 2012 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Illinois,
East Saint Louis Division. We filed a motion with the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation, or JPML, asking the
Panel to transfer to a single court the first three cases named above (and any additional tag-along cases) for
coordinated or consolidated pretrial proceedings. On December 11, 2012 and December 21, 2012, the JPML ruled in
our favor and the Parker, Kent, Price, Lanham, and Massey actions were transferred to the District of Connecticut.
This consolidated case is captioned In re Higher One OneAccount Marketing and Sales Practices Litigation, or the
MDL. Plaintiffs have since filed a consolidated amended complaint in the MDL. It generally alleges, among other
things, violations of state consumer protection statutes (predicated, in part, on alleged violations of Department of
Education rules and violations of the federal Electronic Funds Transfer Act) and various common law claims. On
April 22, 2013, we filed a motion to dismiss the case. On December 21, 2012, Higher One removed the DeClue case

Edgar Filing: Higher One Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

16



to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri. On December 27, 2012, the JPML issued a
conditional transfer order with respect to the DeClue action, which the DeClue plaintiffs have opposed. The JPML
overruled that opposition and the DeClue case has been transferred to the District of Connecticut to proceed as part of
the MDL. In DeClue, plaintiff has filed a motion to remand the case to state court, but the court has stayed any
briefing on this motion until the MDL Court lifts the stay and enters a scheduling order.

In October 2013,we reached an agreement in principle on the key terms of a preliminary settlement that would resolve
the MDL. The terms of the preliminary settlement include a payment of approximately $15.0 million and an
agreement to make and/or maintain certain practice changes.  The parties remain in negotiations and a final settlement
agreement is contingent upon (a) reaching agreement on the remaining terms, (b) obtaining corporate approvals of the
final agreement, and (c) court approval. There can be no assurance that these conditions will be satisfied as
contemplated in the agreement in principle.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, we recorded an accrual for an estimated charge of $16.3 million to
reflect our current estimate of the resolution, inclusive of additional legal and other administrative costs, based on the
agreement in principle.  While this estimate is consistent with our view of the current exposure based on the
agreement in principle, the actual loss or range of such loss could vary materially from the current estimate if the
settlement is not finalized and approved.
8
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Statements
 (unaudited)

In February 2009 and September 2010, Higher One, Inc. filed two separate complaints against TouchNet Information
Systems, Inc., or TouchNet, in the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut alleging patent
infringement related to TouchNet's offering for sale and sales of its “eRefund” product in violation of two of our patents.
In the complaints, we sought judgments that TouchNet has infringed two of our patents, a judgment that TouchNet
pay damages and interest on damages to compensate us for infringement, an award of our costs in connection with
these actions and an injunction barring TouchNet from further infringing our patents. TouchNet answered the
complaint and asserted a number of defenses and counterclaims, including that it does not infringe our patent, that our
patent is invalid or unenforceable and certain allegations of unfair competition and state and federal antitrust
violations. In addition, TouchNet's counterclaims sought dismissal of our claims with prejudice, declaratory judgment
that TouchNet does not infringe our patent and that our patent is invalid or unenforceable, as well as an award of fees
and costs related to the action, and an injunction permanently enjoining us from suing TouchNet regarding
infringement of our patent. The parties are currently in the discovery stage of the proceeding. Although we intend to
pursue the matter vigorously, there can be no assurances of our success in these proceedings.

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, we establish a liability for these matters if and when they were to
present loss contingencies that were both probable and reasonably estimable.

8.  Business Combinations

On August 7, 2012, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Campus Labs, LLC, or Campus Labs.  The Campus
Labs business provides specialized, comprehensive assessment programs that combine data collection, reporting,
organization, and campus-wide integration for higher education institutions. The net assets and results of operations of
the acquired assets of Campus Labs, LLC are included in our consolidated financial statements from August 8, 2012.

On May 7, 2013, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Sallie Mae, Inc., or Sallie Mae, to purchase
substantially all of the assets of Sallie Mae’s Campus Solutions business, or Campus Solutions, for consideration of
approximately $47.3 million in cash, $5.2 million of which was deposited into escrow and will be released to Sallie
Mae or us depending on the assignment of certain client contracts.  We recorded a contingently returnable escrow
receivable of $3.3 million at the time of the acquisition which was the fair value of the amount we expect to receive
from the amounts deposited in escrow.  The purchase consideration is also subject to certain post-closing adjustments,
including working capital adjustments.

We completed the acquisition on May 7, 2013, and used borrowing available under our Credit Facility to pay the
purchase price and related transaction costs.  The Campus Solutions business provides refund disbursement and
payment processing solutions, including tuition payment plans, to education institutions.  The acquisition of the
Campus Solutions business significantly increases the number of our higher education institution clients to whom we
provide refund disbursement and payment processing services. The net assets and results of operations of the Campus
Solutions business are included in our consolidated financial statements beginning May 8, 2013. Assets acquired and
liabilities assumed were recorded at their fair values as of May 7, 2013.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total fair value of consideration transferred was allocated to Campus
Solution’s net tangible and intangible assets based on their estimated fair values as of May 7, 2013. The
preliminary allocation of fair value of consideration transferred was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Assets acquired:
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May 7,
2013

Accounts receivable $770
Contingently returnable escrow receivable 3,300
Fixed assets 92
Intangible assets 23,540
Goodwill 19,548
Total assets acquired and fair value of consideration transferred $47,250
9
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Statements
 (unaudited)

The preliminary purchase price allocations for the Campus Solutions acquisition were based upon a preliminary
valuation and our estimates and assumptions for these acquisitions are subject to change as we obtain additional
information for our estimates during the respective measurement periods. The primary areas of those purchase price
allocations that are not yet finalized relate to the contingently returnable escrow receivable, working capital accounts,
identifiable intangible assets and residual goodwill.

The following methods and inputs were utilized to determine fair value for the respective items:
Item Valuation technique Inputs
Contingently
returnable escrow
receivable

Probability-weighted future
possible outcomes

Estimate of the contracts that will be assigned to us and the
amount to be paid from escrow to us for each such contract

Completed
technology

Income approach – relief
from royalty

Estimated future revenue attributable to technology completed as
of the acquisition date, royalty rate and discount rate

Customer
relationships

Income approach – excess
earnings

Estimated future revenues attributable to existing higher education
institution clients as of the acquisition date, estimated income
associated with such revenue, royalty rate and discount rate

The acquired intangible assets will be amortized each year based on a straight-line method over the estimated useful
life of the asset.

Weighted-average
amortization
period (in years) Amount

Customer relationships 11 $21,240
Completed technology 3 2,300

10 $23,540

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of consideration transferred for an acquired business over the fair
value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill exists in the transaction as a result of value beyond
that of the tangible and other intangible assets, attributable to synergies that exist in the combined business, including
a planned migration to a single technology platform. Goodwill of $19.5 million is deductible for tax purposes.

The Campus Solutions business does not constitute a separate operating segment. Our strategy is to integrate the
Campus Solutions business into our existing business. We have also concluded that our operating segment is a single
reporting unit. Our single operating segment does not have any components that constitute a separate business for
which discrete information will be available. We plan to operate the combined enterprise as one integrated business.
Accordingly, the goodwill arising from the acquisition was assigned to our single operating segment and single
reporting unit.

The change in carrying value of goodwill for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was as follows (in
thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2012 $47,000
Acquisition of Campus Solutions 19,548
Balance at September 30, 2013 $66,548
10
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Higher One Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Statements
 (unaudited)

We reported total aggregate revenues of approximately $7.8 million and $14.4 million from the acquisitions of the
Campus Labs and Campus Solutions businesses during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013,
respectively.

The pro forma financial information for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 is provided for
illustrative purposes only and assumes that the acquisitions of the Campus Labs and Campus Solutions businesses
occurred on January 1, 2012.  The historical results of the Campus Labs and Campus Solutions businesses are
included through August 7, 2012 and May 7, 2013, respectively.  This pro forma financial information (in thousands,
except per share data) should not be relied upon as being indicative of the historical results that would have been
obtained if the acquisitions had actually occurred on that date, nor of the results that may be obtained in the future.
 The pro forma financial information for all periods presented also includes amortization expense from acquired
intangible assets, adjustments to interest expense, interest income and related tax effects.

Three Months
Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

in thousands (other than per share information) 2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenues $57,112 $57,827 $163,355 $169,216
Net income (loss) $(5,494 ) $4,998 $4,804 $15,853
Basic earnings (loss) per share $(0.12 ) $0.09 $0.10 $0.29
Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding 46,907 54,512 46,630 54,837
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $(0.12 ) $0.09 $0.10 $0.27
Diluted weighted average number of common and common equivalent
shares outstanding 46,907 57,246 48,360 57,904

11
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The information contained in this section should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial
statements and related notes as included in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 and
information contained elsewhere in such annual report on Form 10-K and in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. The
discussion contains forward-looking statements (as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995)
involving risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause our results to differ materially from expectations. For
this purpose, any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be
forward-looking statements. Without limiting the foregoing, the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “should” and
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause these differences
include those described under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in the annual report on Form 10-K and in this quarterly
report on Form 10-Q. The forward-looking statements included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q are made only
as of the date of this report. We do not undertake any obligation to update or supplement any forward-looking
statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances, except as required by law. We cannot assure you that
projected results or events will be achieved or will occur.

Overview

We believe that based on market share and the number of campuses using our products and services, we are a leading
provider of technology, payment services and data analytics to the higher education industry. We believe that none of
our competitors can match our ability to provide solutions for higher education institutions’ financial services needs,
including compliance monitoring, and, consequently, that we provide the most comprehensive suite of disbursement
and payment solutions specifically designed for higher education institutions and their students. We also provide
campus communities with convenient, cost-competitive and student-oriented banking services, which include
extensive user-friendly features.

Our products and services for our higher education institution clients include our Disbursement Services, which was
formerly referred to as our OneDisburse® service, our Payment Processing Services, which was formerly referred to
as our CASHNet® suite of payment transaction products and services and our Educational Services powered by
Campus Labs®. Through our bank partners, we offer our OneAccount service, which includes an FDIC-insured
checking account, a debit MasterCard® ATM card and other retail banking services, to the students of our higher
education institution clients that use our Disbursement Services.

On May 7, 2013, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Sallie Mae, Inc. to purchase substantially all of
the assets of its Campus Solutions business for consideration of $47.3 million in cash. We used borrowing available
under our Credit Facility to complete the acquisition. The Campus Solutions business provides business-to-business
solutions, including e-commerce and billing payment solutions, refund disbursement services and tuition payment
plan administration, to education institutions across the country. We believe the Campus Solutions business will create
new relationships with higher education institutions and provide an expanded number of higher education institutions
to which we can offer our current products and services. The net assets and results of operations of the Campus
Solutions business are included in our consolidated financial statements beginning May 8, 2013. The Campus
Solutions business includes three primary products and services, (1) Tuition Payment Plans, or TPP, which includes
the administration of educational tuition payment plans for schools; (2) NetPay, which includes an electronic payment
gateway allowing for one-time payments to be made from students to the school; and (3) refund processing, which
includes the processing of refund disbursements from schools to their students. We plan to migrate and convert the
clients of the Campus Solutions business from the legacy Campus Solutions technology to our other proprietary
technology platforms, including our disbursement services and payment processing services.

As of September 30, 2013, more than 600 campuses serving approximately 4.8 million students had purchased the
OneDisburse service.  In total, there are more than 1,600 campuses servicing nearly 13 million students contracted to
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use at least one of our services, including those campuses and students now served as a result of the Campus Solutions
acquisition.  We also serviced approximately 2.2 million OneAccounts as of September 30, 2013.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, we began working with Customers Bank as one of our bank partners
and our relationship with Cole Taylor Bank terminated.  We transferred deposits from our previous bank partner on a
timely basis and without impact to our customers holding those accounts.  As part of this change in bank partners, we
have made alterations to certain compliance processes to align with our bank partners’ processes.  As part of our bank
partners’ oversight, we continue to evaluate our processes and procedures in these and other areas.  These changes have
added more expenses on related personnel and may lead to decreases to the amount of account revenue that we earn.
Multiple bank partners with multi-regulatory oversight have led to a challenging and complex operating environment.
This is exemplified by the recent changes made to our compliance efforts when working with our bank partners.  This
challenging environment also extends to the multiple regulators that have oversight on our industry.  In the past year,
we have made various changes to the fee structure of the OneAccount to alleviate concerns regarding fees charged to
our customers.

In October 2013, we reached an agreement in principle on the key terms of a preliminary settlement that would
resolve the class action litigation that was filed against us in 2012, referred to collectively as, In re Higher One
OneAccount Multi-District Litigation. The terms of the preliminary settlement include a payment of approximately
$15.0 million and an agreement to make and/or maintain certain practice changes.  We remain in negotiations and a
final settlement agreement is contingent upon (a) reaching agreement on the remaining terms, (b) obtaining corporate
approvals of the final agreement, and (c) court approval. There can be no assurance that these conditions will be
satisfied as contemplated in the agreement in principle.
12
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During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, we recorded an accrual for an estimated charge of $16.3 million to
reflect our current estimate of the resolution, inclusive of additional legal and other administrative costs, based on the
agreement in principle.  While this estimate is consistent with our view of the current exposure based on the
agreement in principle, the actual loss or range of such loss could vary materially from the current estimate if the
settlement is not finalized and approved.

Our revenue fluctuates as a result of seasonal factors related to the academic year. A large portion of our revenue is
either directly or indirectly dependent on academic financial aid received by students and in turn the number of
students enrolled at our higher education institution clients. Higher education institutions typically disburse financial
aid refunds to students at the start of each academic term. Distribution of financial aid disbursements through our
OneDisburse service (1) indirectly generates revenue through deposits of financial aid into OneAccounts, which
generates account revenue, and (2) directly generates revenue through our higher education institution clients’ use of
the OneDisburse service, which generates higher education institution revenue.

While revenue fluctuates over the course of the year, many of our expenses remain relatively constant, resulting in
disparities in our net income and adjusted net income from quarter to quarter. Typically, the second quarter accounts
for the smallest proportion of our revenues. This is primarily because the majority of financial aid is disbursed outside
of this time period and higher education institutions tend to enroll more new students during the third fiscal quarter.
We expect this trend to continue going forward.

Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012

The following tables summarize key components of our results of operations for the periods indicated, both in dollars
and as a percentage of total revenue:

Three Months Ended September 30,
(unaudited)

2013 2012
$
Change

%
Change

2013 %
of
Revenue

2012 %
of
Revenue

(in thousands)
Revenue:
Account revenue $33,234 $35,660 $(2,426 ) (6.8 %) 58.2 % 69.6 %
Payment transaction revenue 14,615 8,342 6,273 75.2 % 25.6 % 16.3 %
Higher education institution revenue 9,008 5,946 3,062 51.5 % 15.8 % 11.6 %
Other revenue 255 1,279 (1,024 ) (80.1 %) 0.4 % 2.5 %
Revenue 57,112 51,227 5,885 11.5 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of revenue 24,999 21,838 3,161 14.5 % 43.8 % 42.6 %
Gross profit 32,113 29,389 2,724 9.3 % 56.2 % 57.4 %
Operating expenses:
General and administrative 16,404 11,902 4,502 37.8 % 28.7 % 23.2 %
Product development 2,822 1,380 1,442 104.5 % 4.9 % 2.7 %
Sales and marketing 4,884 3,182 1,702 53.5 % 8.6 % 6.2 %
Litigation settlement and related costs 16,320 - 16,320 100.0 % 28.6 % 0.0 %
Merger and acquisition related (326 ) 1,042 (1,368 ) (131.3 %) (0.6 %) 2.0 %
Total operating expenses 40,104 17,506 22,598 129.1 % 70.2 % 34.1 %
Income (loss) from operations (7,991 ) 11,883 (19,874) (167.2 %) (14.0 %) 23.2 %
Interest income 19 23 (4 ) (17.4 %) 0.0 % 0.0 %
Interest expense (857 ) (185 ) (672 ) 363.2 % (1.5 %) (0.4 %)
Other income 406 77 329 427.3 % 0.7 % 0.2 %
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Net income (loss) before income taxes (8,423 ) 11,798 (20,221) (171.4 %) (14.7 %) 23.0 %
Income tax expense (2,929 ) 4,480 (7,409 ) (165.4 %) (5.1 %) 8.7 %
Net income (loss) $(5,494 ) $7,318 $(12,812) (175.1 %) (9.6 %) 14.3 %
13
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Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 Compared to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2012

Revenue

Account Revenue
The decrease in account revenue was primarily due to a decrease in the service fees assessed to our customers during
the three months ended September 30, 2013. Our service fees decreased primarily as a result of changes we made to
our account fee schedule over the past year, including: (1) the removal of a fee which was previously assessed to
abandoned accounts, (2) the removal of a fee assessed to customers that had not repaid an overdraft balance within an
allotted time period, and (3) a decrease in the types of transactions which can produce an insufficient funds fee. Those
fee decreases were partially offset by a monthly fee that is assessed on OneAcounts that are not held by students and
do not deposit a minimum amount. As a result of these changes, we expect to continue to experience a decrease in the
amount of service fees assessed per account until each of these fee changes has been in place for a full year. The
removal of the fee which was previously assessed on abandoned accounts and change in the transaction types that
produce an insufficient funds fee were each implemented on January 1, 2013. The fee assessed on customers that had
not repaid their overdraft balance was eliminated on August 1, 2013. The decrease in service fees was partially offset
by an increase in interchange revenue that is primarily the result of certain incentives we earn from our issuing card
network and that was not included in interchange revenue in the prior year.

Payment Transaction Revenue
Slightly more than half of the increase in payment transaction revenue was due to the inclusion of revenue associated
with the NetPay and Tuition Payment Plan products associated with our acquisition of the Campus Solutions business.
 An increase in payment processing services was the reason for the remainder of the increase.  The increase in
payments processed was primarily the result of additional transaction volumes at higher education institutions that had
been clients prior to September 30, 2012, and to a lesser extent, at new clients. Payment processing transaction
volumes increased as a result of our inclusion of Visa as one of the payment methods during the three months ending
September 30, 2013.

Higher Education Institution Revenue
The increase in higher education institution revenue was primarily due to the inclusion of revenue from the acquisition
of the Campus Labs business in August 2012, which we now refer to as Educational Services powered by Campus
Labs, or Educational Services.  Educational Services contributed approximately $3.1 million of revenue during the
three months ended September 30, 2013, an increase from $1.0 million in the prior year period. The increase in
revenue from Educational Services was the result of both the inclusion of a full three months of revenue in 2013,
compared to slightly more than one month in 2012, as well as year-over-year increases in client billings. The
remaining increase in higher education revenue was primarily a result of revenue associated with the Campus
Solutions line of business.

Other Revenue
As a result of a change in our arrangement with MasterCard, which took effect in the fourth quarter of 2012, the
amount of revenue received from MasterCard, recorded as other revenue, has declined and was the main reason for the
decrease in other revenue compared to the three months ended September 30, 2012.  When compared to the prior year
period, other revenue is expected to continue to be lower through the end of 2013.

Cost of Revenue

During the three months ended September 30, 2013, our cost of revenue increased at a slightly higher rate than our
revenues, resulting in a small decrease in our gross margin percentage. The increase in our cost of revenue was
primarily related to an increase in our payment processing costs associated with our payment transaction revenue.  We
experienced a significant decrease in our provision for operational losses, but the decrease was offset by other costs,
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including customer service costs and expenses associated with the acquisition of our Campus Labs and Campus
Solutions businesses, including transaction processing costs, amortization expense of acquired intangible assets and
personnel related costs.

General and Administrative Expense

The increase in general and administrative expenses is primarily attributable to the following three factors: (i) our
personnel costs increased compared to the three months ended September 30, 2012 due to an increase in the number
of employees, (ii) we incurred approximately $1.0 million of non-recurring bank partner transition costs, and, to a
lesser extent, (iii) other professional fees.
14
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Product Development Expense

The increase in product development expense was primarily due to increases in personnel costs, a portion of which is
due to the employees hired in connection with our acquisition of the Campus Labs business in August 2012. We also
incurred transition related product development expenses associated with the Campus Solutions acquisition, which
increased our total product development costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Sales and Marketing Expense

The increase in sales and marketing expense was primarily due to increases in personnel costs, a portion of which is
due to the employees hired in connection with our acquisition of the Campus Labs and Campus Solutions businesses
and also higher amortization expense related to the such acquisitions.

Litigation Settlement and Related Costs

In October 2013, we reached an agreement in principle on the key terms of a preliminary settlement that would
resolve the class action litigation that was filed against us in 2012, referred to collectively as, In re Higher One
OneAccount Multi-District Litigation. The terms of the preliminary settlement include a payment of approximately
$15.0 million and an agreement to make and/or maintain certain practice changes.  We remain in negotiations and a
final settlement agreement is contingent upon (a) reaching agreement on the remaining terms, (b) obtaining corporate
approvals of the final agreement, and (c) court approval. There can be no assurance that these conditions will be
satisfied as contemplated in the agreement in principle.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, we recorded an accrual for an estimated charge of $16.3 million to
reflect our current estimate of the resolution, inclusive of additional legal and other administrative costs, based on the
agreement in principle.  While this estimate is consistent with our view of the current exposure based on the
agreement in principle, the actual loss or range of such loss could vary materially from the current estimate if the
settlement is not finalized and approved.

Merger and Acquisition Related

Our merger and acquisition related expenses include professional fees associated with the acquisition of the Campus
Solutions business in May 2013 of approximately $0.2 million, and a fair value adjustment to the contingent
consideration component of the purchase price of the Campus Labs acquisition from August 2012 which resulted in a
net reduction in operating expenses.

Our contingent consideration liability is measured at fair value on a recurring basis. It is valued using
probability-weighted, future possible expected outcomes and an appropriate discount rate.  Our contingent
consideration liability is a potential earn-out payment which is calculated by multiplying the amount of 2013 revenues
for the acquired Campus Labs business in excess of $12.5 million, if any, by 3.5. During the three months ended
September 30, 2013 we recorded an adjustment of $0.5 million as a result of a decrease in the fair value of the
contingent consideration liability.  The decrease in fair value of the contingent consideration liability was the result of
a decrease in the amount of revenues we expect to be earned during 2013 subject to the earn-out and the distribution
of potential outcomes.  The contingent consideration payment is sensitive to changes in our estimates of the revenue to
be earned during 2013 as a result of the 3.5 multiplier referenced above.  The fair value of the liability, as measured at
September 30, 2013, may diverge materially from the amount that we will pay to settle the liability.  We will continue
to record fair value adjustments to the contingent consideration liability, if necessary, throughout the year ending
December 31, 2013 based on the amount of revenues we expect to earn during the year related to the acquired Campus
Labs business.
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Interest Expense

Our interest expense increased compared to the prior period as a result of an increase in the outstanding balance on our
credit facility. The amount outstanding on our Credit Facility ranged from $100 million to $112 million during the
three months ended September 30, 2013 and the average interest rate during the period was 2.4%.

Income Tax Expense

We recorded an income tax benefit during the three months ended September 30, 2013 as a result of net loss before
income taxes.  The change in income tax expense (benefit) was primarily due to the decrease in net income before
taxes.  The effective tax rates for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 were 34.8% and 38.0%,
respectively.  Our effective rate is expected to be between 39% and 41% for the 2013 fiscal year.  The change in our
expected effective rate from the rate previously disclosed is primarily the result of the loss we recorded on the
litigation settlement described above, which results in a larger impact related to permanent differences from book to
tax income.
15
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Results of Operations for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012

The following table summarizes key components of our results of operations for the periods indicated, both in dollars
and as a percentage of total revenue:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(unaudited)

2013 2012
$
Change

%
Change

2013 %
of
Revenue

2012 %
of
Revenue

(in thousands)
Revenue:
Account revenue $102,541 $112,803 $(10,262) (9.1 %) 66.4 % 76.3 %
Payment transaction revenue 27,402 17,843 9,559 53.6 % 17.7 % 12.1 %
Higher education institution revenue 23,874 14,597 9,277 63.6 % 15.5 % 9.9 %
Other revenue 698 2,678 (1,980 ) (73.9 %) 0.4 % 1.8 %
Revenue 154,515 147,921 6,594 4.5 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of revenue 65,193 60,303 4,890 8.1 % 42.2 % 40.8 %
Gross profit 89,322 87,618 1,704 1.9 % 57.8 % 59.2 %
Operating expenses:
General and administrative 43,069 34,205 8,864 25.9 % 27.9 % 23.1 %
Product development 7,161 3,371 3,790 112.4 % 4.6 % 2.3 %
Sales and marketing 12,723 8,995 3,728 41.4 % 8.2 % 6.1 %
Litigation settlement and related costs 16,320 - 16,320 100.0 % 10.6 % 0.0 %
Merger and acquisition related (4,791 ) 1,042 (5,833 ) (559.8 %) (3.1 %) 0.7 %
Total operating expenses 74,482 47,613 26,869 56.4 % 48.2 % 32.2 %
Income from operations 14,840 40,005 (25,165) (62.9 %) 9.6 % 27.0 %
Interest income 58 87 (29 ) (33.3 %) 0.0 % 0.1 %
Interest expense (2,252 ) (402 ) (1,850 ) 460.2 % (1.5 %) (0.3 %)
Other income 561 232 329 141.8 % 0.4 % 0.2 %
Net income before income taxes 13,207 39,922 (26,715) (66.9 %) 8.5 % 27.0 %
Income tax expense 5,340 15,164 (9,824 ) (64.8 %) 3.5 % 10.3 %
Net income $7,867 $24,758 $(16,891) (68.2 %) 5.1 % 16.7 %

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 Compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012

Revenue

Account Revenue
The decrease in account revenue was primarily due to a decrease in the service fees assessed to our customers during
the nine months ended September 30, 2013. Our service fees decreased primarily as a result of changes we made to
our account fee schedule over the past year, including: (1) the removal of a fee which was previously assessed to
abandoned accounts, (2) the removal of a fee assessed to customers that had not repaid an overdraft balance within an
allotted time period, and (3) a decrease in the types of transactions which can produce an insufficient funds fee. Those
decreases were partially offset by a monthly fee which is assessed on OneAcounts that are not held by students and
who do not deposit a minimum amount. As a result of these changes, we expect to continue to experience a decrease
in the amount of service fees assessed per account until each of these fee changes has been in place for a full year. The
removal of the fee which was previously assessed on abandoned accounts and change in the transaction types that
produce an insufficient funds fee were both implemented on January 1, 2013. The fee assessed on customers that had
not repaid their overdraft balance was eliminated on August 1, 2013. The decrease in service fees was partially offset
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by an increase in interchange revenue which is primarily the result of certain incentives we earn from our issuing card
network which was not included in interchange revenue in the prior year.

Payment Transaction Revenue
The majority of the increase in payment transaction revenue was due to increases associated with our payment
processing services.  Of the increase in revenue associated with payment processing, approximately three-quarters of
the increase was due to an increase in payments processed at higher education institutions that were clients prior to
September 30, 2012 and approximately one-quarter of the increase was due to the addition of higher education
institution clients that began utilizing the SmartPay payment module after September 30, 2012.  In addition, revenue
associated with the NetPay and Tuition Payment Plan products that we acquired as part of the Campus Solutions
business contributed approximately slightly less than half of the overall increase in payment transaction revenue.

16
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Higher Education Institution Revenue
The increase in higher education institution revenue was primarily due to the inclusion of revenue from the acquisition
of the Campus Labs business in August 2012, which we now refer to as educational services powered by Campus
Labs. Educational services contributed approximately $7.8 million of revenue during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013, compared to $1.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2012. The remaining increase
in higher education revenue was a result of higher subscription revenue for our payment processing products as well
as revenue associated with the Campus Solutions business. The increase in subscription revenue was split nearly
evenly between revenue generated from the addition of new modules sold to previously existing higher education
institution clients, as well as sales of payment processing services to new higher education institution clients over the
course of the last twelve months.

Other Revenue
As a result of a change in our arrangement with MasterCard, which took effect in the fourth quarter of 2012, the
amount of revenue received from MasterCard, which is recorded in other revenue, has declined and was the main
reason for the decrease in other revenue compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2012.  When compared to
the prior year period, other revenue is expected to continue to be lower through the end of 2013.

Cost of Revenue

During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, our cost of revenue increased at a higher rate than revenue, which
resulted in a lower gross margin percentage compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2012.  The increase in
our cost of revenue was primarily related to an increase in our payment processing costs associated with our payment
transaction revenue. We experienced a significant decrease in our provision for operational losses, but the decrease
was offset by other costs, including customer service costs and expenses associated with the acquisition of the
Campus Labs and Campus Solutions businesses, including transaction processing costs, amortization expense of
acquired intangible assets and personnel related costs.

General and Administrative Expense

The increase in general and administrative expenses is primarily attributable to the following four factors: (i) our
personnel costs increased compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2012 due to an increase in the number of
employees, (ii) our professional fees increased as a result of legal costs incurred related to our outstanding litigation,
(iii) our depreciation expense increased as a result of additional computer operations and technology support being
provided through internal resources, rather than outsourced service providers, and (iv) we incurred approximately $1.0
million of non-recurring bank partner transition costs in the three months ended September 30, 2013.

Product Development Expense

The increase in product development expense was primarily due to increases in personnel costs, a portion of which is
due to the employees hired in connection with our acquisition of the Campus Labs business in August 2012. We also
incurred transition related product development expenses associated with the Campus Solutions acquisition which
increased our total product development costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Sales and Marketing Expense

The increase in sales and marketing expense was primarily due to increases in personnel costs, a portion of which is
due to the employees hired in connection with our acquisitions of the Campus Labs and Campus Solutions businesses
and also higher amortization expense related to such acquisitions. In addition, we also experienced increases in certain
marketing costs associated both with additional programs designed for our higher education institution clients and also
their students.
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Litigation Settlement and Related Costs

In October 2013, we reached an agreement in principle on the key terms of a preliminary settlement that would
resolve the class action litigation that was filed against us in 2012, referred to collectively as, In re Higher One
OneAccount Multi-District Litigation. The terms of the preliminary settlement include a payment of approximately
$15.0 million and an agreement to make and/or maintain certain practice changes.  We remain in negotiations and a
final settlement agreement is contingent upon (a) reaching agreement on the remaining terms, (b) obtaining corporate
approvals of the final agreement, and (c) court approval. There can be no assurance that these conditions will be
satisfied as contemplated in the agreement in principle.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, we recorded an accrual for an estimated charge of $16.3 million to
reflect our current estimate of the resolution, inclusive of additional legal and other administrative costs, based on the
agreement in principle.  While this estimate is consistent with our view of the current exposure based on the
agreement in principle, the actual loss or range of such loss could vary materially from the current estimate if the
settlement is not finalized and approved.

Merger and Acquisition Related

Our merger and acquisition related expenses include professional fees associated with the acquisitions of the Campus
Labs and Campus Solutions businesses, certain employee related costs and a fair value adjustment to the contingent
consideration component of the purchase price of the Campus Labs acquisition from August 2012 which resulted in a
net reduction in operating expenses.

Our contingent consideration liability is measured at fair value on a recurring basis. It is valued using
probability-weighted, future possible expected outcomes and an appropriate discount rate.  Our contingent
consideration liability is a potential earn-out payment which is calculated by multiplying the amount of 2013 revenues
for the acquired Campus Labs business in excess of $12.5 million, if any, by 3.5. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2013, we recorded an adjustment of $5.8 million as a result of a decrease in the fair value of the
contingent consideration liability.  The decrease in fair value of the contingent consideration liability was the result of
a decrease in the amount of revenues we expect to be earned during 2013 subject to the earn-out and the distribution
of potential outcomes.  The contingent consideration payment is sensitive to changes in our estimates of the revenue to
be earned during 2013 as a result of the 3.5 multiplier referenced above.  The fair value of the liability, as measured at
September 30, 2013, may diverge materially from the amount that we will pay to settle the liability.  We will continue
to record fair value adjustments to the contingent consideration liability, if necessary, throughout the year ending
December 31, 2013 based on the amount of revenues we expect to earn during the year related to the acquired Campus
Labs business.

Interest Expense

Our interest expense increased compared to the prior period as a result of an increase in the outstanding balance on our
Credit Facility (as defined below), including amounts drawn to finance the acquisition of the Campus Solutions
business.  The amount outstanding on our Credit Facility ranged from $63 million to $112 million during the nine
months ended September 30, 2013 and the average interest rate during the period was 2.2%.

Income Tax Expense

The decrease in income tax expense was primarily due to the decrease in net income before taxes. The effective tax
rates for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 were 40.4% and 38.0%, respectively. Our effective rate
is expected to be between 39% and 41% for the 2013 fiscal year. The change in our expected effective rate from the
rate previously disclosed is primarily the result of the loss we recorded on the litigation settlement described above
which results in a larger impact related to permanent differences from book to tax income.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations and borrowings under our Credit Facility, as defined
below.  As of September 30, 2013, we had $11.8 million in cash and cash equivalents, $0.2 million in
available-for-sale investments and approximately $33.2 million in borrowing capacity available under our Credit
Facility. Our primary liquidity requirements are for working capital, capital expenditures, product development
expenses and general corporate needs. As of September 30, 2013, we had a working capital deficit of $13.2 million.

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

In October 2012, we terminated our then existing credit facility and entered into a new five-year senior secured
revolving credit facility in an amount of $200.0 million, or the Credit Facility.  As of September 30, 2013, we had
$100.0 million in borrowings outstanding, at a weighted average interest rate of 2.4%, under the Credit Facility.  The
Credit Facility permits the issuance of letters of credit of up to $20.0 million and swing line loans of up to $10.0
million to fund working capital needs.  Loans drawn under the Credit Facility are payable in a single maturity on
October 16, 2017. We amended the Credit Facility in November 2013 in order to exclude the loss related to the
settlement of the class action lawsuits from our financial covenant calculations.
18
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Each of HOH, HOMI, Real Estate Inc. and Real Estate LLC, or together with HOI, the Loan Obligors, is a guarantor
of HOI's obligations under the Credit Facility.  Loans drawn under the Credit Facility are secured by a perfected first
priority security interest in all of the capital stock of HOI and its domestic subsidiaries, and substantially all of each
Loan Obligor's tangible and intangible assets, including intellectual property.

Amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility accrue interest at a rate equal to, at our option, either (i) the British
Bankers Association LIBOR Rate, or BBA LIBOR, plus a margin of between 1.75% and 2.25% per annum
(depending on our funded debt to EBITDA, as defined in the Credit Facility, ratio) or (ii) a fluctuating base rate tied to
the federal funds rate, the administrative agent's prime rate and BBA LIBOR, subject to a minimum of 2%. Interest is
payable on the last day of each interest period selected by us under the Credit Facility and, in any event, at least
quarterly.  We pay a commitment fee ranging from 0.25% and 0.375% on the daily average undrawn portion of
revolving commitments under the Credit Facility, which accrues and is payable quarterly in arrears.

The Credit Facility contains certain affirmative covenants including covenants to furnish the lenders with financial
statements and other financial information and to provide the lenders notice of material events and information
regarding collateral.  The Credit Facility also contains certain negative covenants that, among other things, restrict our
ability, subject to certain exceptions, to incur additional indebtedness, grant liens on our assets, undergo fundamental
changes, make investments, sell assets, make restricted payments, change the nature of our business and engage in
transactions with our affiliates.  In addition, the Credit Facility contains certain financial covenants that require us to
maintain (1) EBITDA, as defined in the Credit Facility, as amended, on a consolidated basis for the prior four fiscal
quarters of at least $50 million, (2) a funded debt to EBITDA ratio of 2.50 to 1.00 or less between October 16, 2012
and December 31, 2014 and of 2.00 to 1.00 or less thereafter, and (3) a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.25 to
1.00. We were in compliance with each of the applicable affirmative, negative and financial covenants of the Credit
Facility as of September 30, 2013.

Cash Flows

The following table presents information regarding our cash flows and cash and cash equivalents for the nine months
ended September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2012:

Nine Months Ended September
30,

2013 2012
$
Change

(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $36,185 $38,451 $(2,266 )
Investing activities (53,300) (48,627) (4,673 )
Financing activities 15,914 (1,865 ) 17,779
Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,201 ) (12,041) 10,840
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $11,830 $27,044 $(15,214)

The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily the result of a decrease in net income of $16.9
million. There was an increase of $2.0 million in non-cash adjustments to net income compared to the nine months
ended September 30, 2012 as a result of increases in depreciation and amortization expense and deferred income tax
expense, a decrease in the income tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options, offset by the impact of the fair
value adjustment of our contingent consideration liability.  Changes in our working capital accounts accounted for an
increase in cash from operating activities as a result of an increase in our accrued liabilities associated with the loss
related to our litigation settlement.
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The increase in net cash used in investing activities primarily relates to our acquisition of the Campus Solutions
business which totaled $47.3 million. There was a decrease in purchases of fixed assets of $18.0 million compared to
the nine months ended September 30, 2012 as a result of expenditures on our real estate development project in the
prior year. We generated $15.5 million of cash from investing activities during the nine months ended September 30,
2012 through the net activity related to the available for sale securities we held last year.

We believe that our cash flows from operations, together with our existing liquidity sources, will be sufficient to fund
our operations and anticipated capital expenditures over at least the next twelve months.

The cash provided by financing activities was primarily related to amounts drawn on our Credit Facility to finance the
acquisition of the Campus Solutions business.  During the three months ended September 30, 2013, we made
repayments of $12.0 million on our Credit Facility.  In total, during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 the
balance on our Credit Facility has increased by $20.0 million, primarily as a result of amounts drawn to finance the
acquisition of the Campus Solutions business.  We also used approximately $6.0 million to purchase our common
stock through our authorized share purchase program during the three months ended March 31, 2013.
19
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Supplemental Financial and Operating Information

Three Months
Ended

Nine Months
Ended

September 30, September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Adjusted EBITDA $14,339 $16,708 $41,784 $51,841
Adjusted net income $6,896 $9,259 $21,070 $29,502

Number of students enrolled at OneDisburse client higher education
institutions at end of period 4,752 4,589 4,752 4,589

Number of OneAccounts at end of period 2,194 2,083 2,194 2,083

We define adjusted EBITDA as net income before interest, income taxes and depreciation and amortization, or
EBITDA, further adjusted to remove the effects of stock-based compensation expense, incremental expenses (or
income), certain of which are non-cash, directly related to merger and acquisition activities, litigation settlement costs
related to a series of class action lawsuits and non-recurring costs associated with our transition to a new bank partner
relationship. Neither EBITDA nor adjusted EBITDA should be considered as an alternative to net income, operating
income or any other measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. Our
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other organizations because
other organizations may not calculate EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA in the same manner as we do.  

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income, the most comparable GAAP measure, to EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA for each of the periods indicated:

Three Months
Ended

Nine Months
Ended

September 30, September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Net income (loss) $(5,494 ) $7,318 $7,867 $24,758
Interest income (19 ) (23 ) (58 ) (87 )
Interest expense 857 185 2,252 402
Income tax expense (2,929 ) 4,480 5,340 15,164
Depreciation and amortization 3,989 2,805 10,587 7,336
EBITDA (3,596 ) 14,765 25,988 47,573
Merger and acquisition related (326 ) 1,042 (4,791 ) 1,042
Litigation settlement and bank partner transition costs 17,326 - 17,326 -
Stock-based compensation expense 935 901 3,261 3,226
Adjusted EBITDA $14,339 $16,708 $41,784 $51,841

We define adjusted net income as net income, adjusted to eliminate (a) stock-based compensation expense related to
incentive stock option grants and (b) after giving effect to tax adjustments, (1) stock-based compensation expense
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related to non-qualified stock option grants, (2) incremental expenses, certain of which are non-cash, directly related
to merger and acquisition activities, (3) litigation settlement costs related to a series of class action lawsuits and
non-recurring costs associated with our transition to a new bank partner relationship and (4) amortization expenses
related to intangible assets and financing costs. Adjusted net income should not be considered as an alternative to net
income, operating income or any other measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with
GAAP. Our adjusted net income may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other organizations because
other organizations may not calculate adjusted net income in the same manner as we do.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net income, the most comparable GAAP measure, to adjusted net
income for each of the periods indicated:

Three Months
Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Net income (loss) $(5,494 ) $7,318 $7,867 $24,758

Merger and acquisition related (326 ) 1,042 (4,791 ) 1,042
Litigation settlement and bank partner transition costs 17,326 - 17,326 -
Stock-based compensation expense - incentive stock option grants 473 487 1,458 1,490
      Stock-based compensation expense - non-qualified stock option
grants 462 414 1,803 1,736
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 1,806 863 4,427 2,386
Amortization of deferred finance costs 109 34 332 102
Total pre-tax adjustments 19,850 2,840 20,555 6,756
Tax rate 38.5 % 38.2 % 38.5 % 38.2 %
Less: tax adjustment (a) 7,460 899 7,352 2,012
            Adjusted net income $6,896 $9,259 $21,070 $29,502

(a)           We have tax effected, utilizing an estimated statutory rate, all the pre-tax adjustments except for stock-based
compensation expense for incentive stock options, which are generally not tax deductible.

            The adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income measures presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies, and may not be identical to
corresponding measures used in our various agreements, in particular our Credit Facility.

Contractual Obligations

Except for the increase in the amount owed under our Credit Facility, there have been no material changes to our
contractual commitments from those disclosed in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2012.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are not a party to any material off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current
or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations,
liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies and basis of preparation of our consolidated financial statements are described in
Note 2, “Significant Accounting Policies” of our notes to consolidated financial statements included in our annual report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 and in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Under accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our
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financial statements. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
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We believe the judgments, estimates and assumptions associated with the following critical accounting policies have
the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements:
Provision for operational losses;
Stock-based compensation; and
Income taxes

For a complete discussion of these critical accounting policies, refer to "Critical Accounting Policies" within "Item 7 -
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" included within our annual
report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012. At September 30, 2013, the only accounting policy that
has had a material change compared to the Critical Accounting Policies described therein is with respect to business
combinations as a result of our acquisition of the Campus Solutions business in May 2013.

Business combinations

In recording the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination, we make estimates and
assumptions regarding customer retention rates, discount rates and future revenues among other things. The effect of
these estimates and assumptions may be material to our financial statements. Changes in these estimates would have
an impact on the amount of value assigned to our assets acquired and therefore impact the amount of amortization that
is recorded in future periods and the amount of goodwill recorded at the time of the business combination.

In May 2013, we acquired substantially all the assets of the Campus Solutions business from Sallie Mae, Inc.  Under
the acquisition method of accounting, the total fair value of consideration transferred was allocated to Campus
Solutions’ net tangible and intangible assets based on their estimated fair values as of May 7, 2013. In determining the
fair value of these amounts, we made estimates regarding (i) the amount of future revenues to be derived from the
technology in existence at the time of the acquisition, (ii) the amount of future revenues to be derived from the
existing customers of Campus Solutions at the time of the acquisition, (iii) the estimate of the contracts which will be
assigned to us, (iv) the period of time over which the technology in existence at the time of the acquisition will be
replaced, (v) the operating margin to be earned in the future, and (vi) the appropriate discount rates to use for each
acquired asset. In most cases, an increase in our expected future revenues would have the effect of increasing the
value ascribed to our identifiable intangible assets and thereby increasing future amortization expense and decreasing
the amount of goodwill recorded. We utilized discount rates ranging between 22% and 23% to determine the fair
value of the acquired intangible assets. Increases or decreases of 1% in the discount rate would not have a material
impact on the amount of acquired intangible assets or goodwill recorded in the transaction.

Our contingently returnable escrow receivable is valued using probability-weighted, future possible expected
outcomes.  The unobservable input utilized in the determination of this receivable is our estimation of which clients
subject to the escrow agreement will assign their contracts to us.  The range of amounts which we may receive from
escrow is between $0.0 and $4.5 million.  All amounts are expected to be distributed out of escrow by December
2013.  The fair value of the escrow receivable, as measured at September 30, 2013, may diverge materially from the
amount that we actually receive during 2013.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our principal market risk relates to interest rate sensitivity, which is the risk that future changes in interest rates will
reduce our net income or net assets. Our Credit Facility accrues interest at a rate equal to a base rate or Eurodollar rate
plus an applicable margin (depending on our funded debt to EBITDA ratio). Based upon a sensitivity analysis at
October 1, 2013, assuming average outstanding borrowings during the three months ended September 30, 2013 of
$112 million, a hypothetical 50 basis point increase in interest rates would result in an increase in interest expense of
$0.6 million for an annual period.
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In addition, we receive processing fees paid from our bank partners, based on prevailing interest rates and the total
deposits held in OneAccounts. Since 2008, processing fees paid by our bank partners have been relatively small
because of historically low interest rates. A change in interest rates would affect the amount of processing fees that we
earn and therefore would have an effect on our revenue, cash flows and results of operations.
22
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act) as of September 30, 2013. Based on this
evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of September 30, 2013,
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure, and ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the Security and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

There has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting during the three months ended September
30, 2013 identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act
that occurred during the period covered by this report that has materially affected, or is reasonable likely to materially
affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The following information supplements and amends our discussion set forth under Part I, Item 3. "Legal Proceedings"
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended  and in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters
ended March 31, 2013 and June 30, 2013.

We are a defendant in a series of putative class action lawsuits. The cases are as follows: Ashley Parker, et al. v.
Higher One Holdings, Inc. et al., filed on July 3, 2012 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Mississippi, Eastern Division; Jeanette Price et al. v. Higher One Holdings, Inc. et al., filed on July 27, 2012 in the
United States District Court for the District of Connecticut; John Brandon Kent et al. v. Higher One Holdings, Inc. et
al., filed on August 17, 2012 in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Alabama, Northern
Division; Jonathan Lanham et al. v. Higher One Holdings, Inc. et al., filed on October 2, 2012 in the United States
District Court for the Western District of Kentucky, Louisville Division; Aisha DeClue et al. v. Higher One, Inc., et
al., filed on November 5, 2012 in the St. Louis County Circuit Court of Missouri; and Jill Massey et al. v. Higher One
Holdings, Inc. et al., filed on November 6, 2012 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Illinois,
East Saint Louis Division. We filed a motion with the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation, or JPML, asking the
Panel to transfer to a single court the first three cases named above (and any additional tag-along cases) for
coordinated or consolidated pretrial proceedings. On December 11, 2012 and December 21, 2012, the JPML ruled in
our favor and the Parker, Kent, Price, Lanham, and Massey actions were transferred to the District of Connecticut.
This consolidated case is captioned In re Higher One OneAccount Marketing and Sales Practices Litigation, or the
MDL. Plaintiffs have since filed a consolidated amended complaint in the MDL. It generally alleges, among other
things, violations of state consumer protection statutes (predicated, in part, on alleged violations of Department of
Education rules and violations of the federal Electronic Funds Transfer Act) and various common law claims. On
April 22, 2013, we filed a motion to dismiss the case. Discovery has commenced in the MDL. On December 21, 2012,
Higher One removed the DeClue case to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri. On
December 27, 2012, the JPML issued a conditional transfer order with respect to the DeClue action, which the DeClue
plaintiffs have opposed. The JPML overruled that opposition and the DeClue case has been transferred to the District
of Connecticut to proceed as part of the MDL. In DeClue, plaintiff has filed a motion to remand the case to state court,
but the court has stayed any briefing on this motion until the MDL Court lifts the stay and enters a scheduling order.

Edgar Filing: Higher One Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

44



In October 2013, we reached an agreement in principle on the key terms of a preliminary settlement that would
resolve the class action litigation that was filed against us in 2012, referred to collectively as, In re Higher One
OneAccount Multi-District Litigation. The terms of the preliminary settlement include a payment of approximately
$15.0 million and an agreement to make and/or maintain certain practice changes.  We remain in negotiations and a
final settlement agreement is contingent upon (a) reaching agreement on the remaining terms, (b) obtaining corporate
approvals of the final agreement, and (c) court approval. There can be no assurance that these conditions will be
satisfied as contemplated in the agreement in principle.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, we recorded an accrual for an estimated charge of $16.3 million to
reflect our current estimate of the resolution, inclusive of additional legal and other administrative costs, based on the
agreement in principle.  While this estimate is consistent with our view of the current exposure based on the
agreement in principle, the actual loss or range of such loss could vary materially from the current estimate if the
settlement is not finalized and approved.
23
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to our risk factors from those disclosed in our annual report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2012, except as follows:

We rely on our bank partners for certain banking services, and a change in the relationships with, or difficulties
implementing our program with, our bank partners or their failure to comply with certain banking regulations could
materially and adversely affect our business.

As the provider of FDIC-insured depository services for all OneAccounts, as well as other banking functions, such as
supplying cash for our ATM machines, our bank partners provide third-party services that are critical to our
student-oriented banking services. We have within the past few years experienced turnover with respect to our bank
partners, which presents certain risks and uncertainties. For example, on February 8, 2013, we agreed to a mutual
termination with Cole Taylor of our deposit Processing Services Agreement to be effective August 30, 2013 and on
July 11, 2013, we entered into an agreement with Customers Bank under which Customers Bank currently provides
deposit services as a bank partner.  In connection with transitioning bank partners, we have had to make certain
changes to our practices and operations, and could be required to make further changes in the future.  Should we
encounter any difficulties in on-boarding, retaining or transitioning bank partners, we may not be able to continue
offering the OneAccount in the same manner as we do now, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.  Further, in the future, if we are not able to transition the
functions performed by our then current bank partners to another financial institution, or, to the extent necessary,
replace a current bank partner, we may not be able to continue offering the OneAccount in the same manner as we do
now, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, if any material adverse event were to affect any of our bank partners or future bank partners, including,
but not limited to, a significant decline in financial condition, a decline in the quality of service, loss of deposits, a
change in deposit classification related to the OneAccounts, inability to comply with applicable banking and financial
service regulatory requirements, systems failure or inability to pay us fees, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. There is also a risk that the terms of our services
agreement with future bank partners may not be as favorable to us as our current agreements. The aggregate impact of
any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on our founders and other key members of executive management and the loss of their services could have
a material adverse effect on our business.

We substantially depend on the efforts, skill and reputations of our founders and senior management team, including
Mark Volchek (Founder and Chief Executive Officer), Miles Lasater (Founder and President), Casey McGuane (Chief
Operating Officer), Robert Reach (Chief Sales Officer) and Christopher Wolf (Chief Financial Officer). We do not
currently maintain key person life insurance policies with respect to our executive officers. None of our executive
officers have entered into employment agreements with us, leaving them free to terminate their involvement with us at
any time and/or to pursue other opportunities. For example, on June 30, 2012, Dean Hatton, our former President and
Chief Executive Officer, retired from his position. The retirement of Mr. Hatton or the loss of any of our other
executive officers or founders could have a material adverse effect on our ability to manage our company, growth
prospects, business financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to substantial federal and state governmental regulation that could change and thus force us to make
modifications to our business. Compliance with the various complex laws and regulations is costly and time
consuming, and failure to comply could have a material adverse effect on our business. Additionally, increased
regulatory requirements on our services may increase our costs, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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As a payments processor to higher education institutions that takes payment instructions from institutions and their
constituents, including students and employees, and gives them to our bank partners, we are directly or indirectly
subject to a variety of federal and state laws and regulations. Our contracts with most of our higher education
institution clients and our bank partners require us to comply with applicable laws and regulations, including but not
limited to, where applicable:

•Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, or Title IV;
•the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1975, or FERPA;
•the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E;
•the USA PATRIOT Act and related anti-money laundering requirements; and

•certain federal rules regarding safeguarding personal information, including rules implementing the privacy
provisions of Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, or GLBA.

24
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Higher Education Regulations

Third-Party Servicer. Because of the services we provide to some institutions with regard to the handling of Title IV
funds, the U.S. Department of Education, or ED, may deem us to be a "third-party servicer" under the Title IV
regulations. Those regulations require a third-party servicer annually to submit a compliance audit conducted by
outside independent auditors that cover the servicer's Title IV activities. Each year we submit a "Compliance
Attestation Examination of the Title IV Student Financial Assistance Programs" audit to ED, which includes a report
by an independent audit firm. In addition, the yearly compliance audit submission to the ED provides comfort to
certain of our higher education institution clients that we are in compliance with the third-party servicer regulations
that may apply to us. We also provide this compliance audit report to clients upon request to help them fulfill their
compliance audit obligations as Title IV participating institutions.

Under ED's regulations, a third party servicer that contracts with a Title IV institution acts in the nature of a fiduciary
in the administration of Title IV programs. Among other requirements, the regulations provide that a third-party
servicer is jointly and severally liable with its client institution for any liability to ED arising out of the servicer's
violation of Title IV or its implementing regulations, which could subject us to material fines related to acts or
omissions of entities beyond our control. ED is also empowered to limit, suspend or terminate the violating servicer's
eligibility to act as a third-party servicer and to impose significant civil penalties on the violating servicer. In the event
ED concluded that we had violated Title IV or its implementing regulations and should be subject to one or more of
these sanctions, our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. There is limited
enforcement and interpretive history of Title IV regulations.

On May 1, 2012, ED published in the Federal Register a notice of intent to establish a negotiated rulemaking
committee to draft proposed regulations designed to prevent fraud through the use of electronic fund transfers to
students' bank accounts, ensure proper use of federal financial aid funds; address the use of debit cards and other
banking products for disbursing federal financial aid funds, and improve and streamline campus' financial aid
programs. We provided written and oral comments at a hearing held by ED in connection with the negotiated
rulemaking process and have provided additional information to ED. On April 16, 2013, ED announced that there will
be additional topics for consideration for action by negotiated rulemaking committees that may be formed in the
future. The additional topics include, among other things, revising the cash management regulations that pertain to the
disbursement of Title IV refund monies to reduce the time by which an institution must provide refunds to students,
amend the regulations relating to requirements for student authorizations and specify when and how an institution
must disburse Title IV funds. In the event that new rules are promulgated which alter, restrict or prohibit our ability to
offer our services to higher education institutions and students in the manner that we currently do, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

FERPA. Our higher education institution clients are subject to FERPA, which provides with certain exceptions that an
educational institution that receives any federal funding under a program administered by the Department of
Education may not have a policy or practice of disclosing education records or "personally identifiable information"
from education records, other than directory information to third parties without the student's or parent's written
consent. Our higher education institution clients that use the OneDisburse services disclose to us certain non-directory
information concerning their students, including contact information, student identification numbers and the amount
of students' credit balances. Additionally, our higher education institution clients that use Campus Labs products also
share personally identifiable information with us. We believe that our higher education institution clients may disclose
this information to us without the students' or their parents' consent pursuant to one or more exceptions under FERPA.
However, if the Department of Education asserts that we do not fall into one of these exceptions or if future changes
to legislation or regulations required student consent before our higher education institution clients could disclose this
information to us, a sizeable number of students may cease using our products and services, which could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Additionally, as we are indirectly subject to FERPA, we may not permit the transfer of any personally identifiable
information to another party other than in a manner in which a higher education institution may disclose it. In the
event that we re-disclose student information in violation of this requirement, FERPA requires our clients to suspend
our access to any such information for a period of five years. Any such suspension could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

State Laws. We may also be subject to similar state laws and regulations that restrict higher education institutions
from disclosing certain personally identifiable information of students. State attorneys general and other enforcement
agencies may monitor our compliance with state and federal laws and regulations pertaining to higher education and
banking and conduct investigations of our business that are time consuming and expensive and could result in fines
and penalties that have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, individual state legislatures may propose and enact new laws that restrict or otherwise affect our ability
to offer our products and services as we currently do, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
25
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Regulation of OneAccounts

Anti-Money Laundering; USA PATRIOT ACT; Office of Foreign Assets Control. WEX Bank, Customers Bank,
Urban Trust Bank and Cole Taylor Bank (until August 2013), which we refer to collectively as our bank partners, are
insured depository institutions and funds held at our bank partners are insured by the FDIC up to applicable limits. As
insured depository institutions, our bank partners are subject to comprehensive government regulation and supervision
and, in the course of making their services available to our customers, we are required to assist our bank partners in
complying with certain of their regulatory obligations. In particular, the anti-money laundering provisions of the USA
PATRIOT Act require that customer identifying information be obtained and verified whenever a checking account is
established. For example, because we facilitate the opening of checking accounts at our bank partners on behalf of our
customers, we assist our bank partners in collecting the customer identification information that is necessary to open
an account. In addition, both we and our bank partners are subject to the laws and regulations enforced by the Office
of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC, which prohibit U.S. persons from engaging in transactions with certain
prohibited persons. Our failure to comply with any of these laws or rights could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial credit and results of operations.

Compliance; Audit. As a service provider to insured depository institutions, we are required under applicable federal
and state laws to agree to submit to examination by our bank partners' regulators. We also are subject to audit by our
bank partners to ensure that we comply with our obligations to them appropriately. Failure to comply with our
responsibilities properly could negatively affect our operations. Our bank partners are required under their respective
agreements with us to, and we rely on our bank partners' ability to, comply with state and federal banking regulations.
The failure of our bank partners to maintain regulatory compliance could result in significant disruptions to our
business and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Electronic Fund Transfer Act; Regulation E. Our bank partners provide depository services for OneAccounts through
a private label relationship. We provide processing services for OneAccounts for our bank partners. These services are
subject to, among other things, the requirements of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau's Regulation E, which govern automatic deposits to and withdrawals from deposit accounts and
customers' rights and liabilities arising from the use of ATMs, debit cards and certain other electronic banking
services. We may assist our bank partners with fulfilling their compliance obligations pursuant to these requirements.
See "Fees for financial services are subject to increasingly intense legislative and regulatory scrutiny, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects for future
growth" in this Form 10-Q for additional discussion. Failure to comply with applicable regulations could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Money Transmitter Regulations. Because our technology services are provided in connection with the financial
products of our bank partners, our activities are occasionally reviewed by regulatory agencies to ensure that we do not
impermissibly engage in activities that require licensing at the state or federal level. In the ordinary course of business,
we receive letters and inquiries concerning the nature of our business as it applies to state "money transmitter"
licensing and regulations from different state regulatory agencies. If a state agency were to conclude that we are
required to be licensed as a "money transmitter," we may need to undergo a costly licensing process in that state, and
failure to comply could be a violation of state and potentially federal law.

Privacy and Data Regulation

We are subject to laws and regulations relating to the collection, use, retention, security and transfer of personally
identifiable information and data regarding our customers and their financial information. In addition, we are bound
by our own privacy policies and practices concerning the collection, use and disclosure of user data, which are posted
on certain of our website pages.
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In conjunction with the disbursement, payroll and tuition payment services we make available through our bank
partners, it is necessary to collect certain information from our customers (such as bank account and routing numbers)
to transmit to our bank partners. Our bank partners use this information to execute the funds transfers requested by our
customers, which are effected primarily by means of ACH networks and other wire transfer systems, such as FedWire.
To the extent the data required by these electronic funds networks change, the information that we will be required to
request from our clients may also change.
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We are subject, either directly or by virtue of our contractual relationship with our bank partners, to the privacy and
security standards of the GLBA privacy regulations, as well as certain state data protection laws and regulations. The
GLBA privacy regulations require that we develop, implement and maintain a written comprehensive information
security program prescribing safeguards that are appropriate to our size and complexity, the nature and scope of our
activities and the sensitivity of any personally identifiable information we access for processing purposes or otherwise
maintain. As a service provider of our bank partners, we also are limited in our use and disclosure of the personal
information we receive from our bank partners, which we may use and disclose only for the purposes for which it was
provided to us and consistent with the bank's own data privacy and security obligations. We also are subject to the
standards set forth in guidance on data security issued by the Federal Financial Institution Examination Council, as
well as the data security standards imposed by the card associations, including Visa, Inc., and MasterCard. In addition,
we are subject to similar data security breach laws enacted by a number of states.

Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with any legal or regulatory requirements or orders or other federal or
state privacy or consumer protection-related laws and regulations, or with our own privacy policies, could result in
fines, sanctions, litigation, negative publicity, limitation of our ability to conduct our business and injury to our
reputation, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

New legislation and regulations in this area have been proposed, both at the federal and state level. Such measures,
including pending Federal legislation, would potentially impose additional obligations on us, including requiring that
we provide notifications to consumers and government authorities in the event of a data breach or unauthorized access
or disclosure, beyond what state law already requires. These laws and regulations could cause us to incur substantial
costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner materially adverse to our business.

Compliance

We monitor our compliance through an internal audit program. Our full-time internal auditor works with a third-party
internal audit firm to conduct annual reviews to ensure compliance with the regulatory requirements described above.
The costs of these audits and the costs of complying with the applicable regulatory requirements are significant.
Increased regulatory requirements on our products and services, such as in connection with the matters described
above, could materially increase our costs or reduce revenue.

It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed,
or whether any of the proposals will become law. The imposition of any new laws or regulations could make
compliance more difficult and expensive and affect the manner in which we conduct business. In addition, many of
these laws and regulations are evolving, unclear and inconsistent across various jurisdictions. If we were deemed to be
in violation of any laws or regulations that are currently in place or that may be promulgated in the future, including
but not limited to those described above, we could be exposed to financial liability and adverse publicity or forced to
change our business practices or stop offering some of our products and services. We also could face significant legal
fees, delays in extending our product and services offerings, and damage to our reputation that could harm our
business and reduce demand for our products and services. Even if we are not required to change our business
practices, we could be required to obtain licenses or regulatory approvals that could cause us to incur substantial costs
and delays.

Our business will suffer if we fail to successfully integrate acquired businesses and technologies or to appropriately
assess the risks in transactions.

We have acquired, and may in the future acquire, businesses, technologies, services, product lines and other assets,
such as our acquisition of the Campus Labs business in August 2012 and our acquisition of Sallie Mae's Campus
Solutions division in May 2013. The successful integration of these businesses, or any business, technology, service,
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product line or other asset that we may acquire in the future, on a cost-effective basis, may be critical to our future
performance. There are a number of risks and uncertainties associated with such integration, including but not limited
to the following: we may not be able to achieve expected synergies and operating efficiencies regarding the
acquisition within the expected time-frames or at all and to successfully integrate the acquired business operations into
those of ours; such integration may be more difficult, time-consuming or costly than expected; we may not be
successful in converting new clients gained through acquisitions to our own products and services or in cross selling
our products and service to such clients; revenues following the transaction may be lower than expected; operating
costs, client and customer loss and business disruption (including, without limitation, difficulties in maintaining
relationships with employees, customers, clients or suppliers) may be greater than expected following the transaction;
we may have difficulty retaining certain key employees in the acquired business; and we nay may be subject to legal
proceedings that may be instituted against the parties and others related to the acquisition agreement and the amount
of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the acquisition. If we do not successfully integrate a strategic
acquisition, or if the benefits of a particular transaction do not meet the expectations of financial or industry analysts,
the market price of our common stock may decline. Even if we successfully integrate assets or businesses we may
acquire, we may incur substantial expenses and devote significant management time and resources in seeking to
complete and integrate an acquisition, the acquired business may not perform as we expect or enhance the value of our
business as a whole. Additionally, we currently rely on Sallie Mae, Inc. and Salle Mae Bank for technology hosting,
accounting services and the performance of other key functions, including those performed by vendors with which the
Sallie Mae entities have contractual relationships.  If the transition services we receive under the transition services
agreements are affected or altered, or if we are unable to perform such services ourselves after the expiration of the
transition services agreements or otherwise convert clients to our prior-existing technology platforms, we may not be
able to continue offering the Campus Solutions products and services in the manner that we currently do today, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Reviews and enforcement actions by regulatory authorities under banking and consumer protection laws and
regulations, and possible changes to those laws and regulations by legislative or regulatory action, may result in
changes to our business practices or may expose us to the risk of fines, restitution and litigation.

Our operations and the operations of our Bank Partners are subject to the jurisdiction and examination of federal, state
and local regulatory authorities, including the FDIC, which is Wright Express FSC's primary federal regulator, the
OCC, which is UTB's primary federal regulator, and the Federal Reserve Bank, which is Customers Bank and Cole
Taylor's primary federal regulator. Our business practices, including the terms of our products, are reviewed and
approved by our Bank Partners and subject to both periodic and special reviews by such regulatory authorities, which
can range from investigations into specific consumer complaints or concerns to broader inquiries into our practices
generally. We and our Bank Partners are subject to ongoing and routine examination by the FDIC, OCC and Federal
Reserve Bank.  If, as part of an examination or review, the regulatory authorities conclude that we are not complying
with applicable laws or regulations, they could request or impose a wide range of remedies, including, but not limited
to, requiring changes to the terms of our products (such as decreases in fees), the imposition of fines or penalties or the
institution of enforcement proceedings or other similar actions against us alleging that our current or past practices
constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices. As part of an enforcement action, the regulators can seek restitution for
affected customers and impose civil money penalties. In addition, negative publicity relating to any specific inquiry or
investigation or any related fine could adversely affect our stock price, our relationships with various industry
participants, or our ability to attract new clients and retain existing clients, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In February 2011, the New York Regional Office of the FDIC notified us that it was prepared to recommend to the
Director of FDIC Supervision that an enforcement action be taken against us for alleged violations of certain
applicable laws and regulations principally relating to our compliance management system and policies and practices
for past overdraft charging on persistently delinquent accounts, collections and transaction error resolution. We
responded to the FDIC's notification, and have been in regular dialogue with the FDIC since 2010. We voluntarily
initiated a plan in December 2011, which provided credits to certain current and former customers that were
previously assessed certain insufficient fund fees. As a result of this plan, we recorded a reduction in our revenue of
approximately $4.7 million in 2011. On August 8, 2012, we received a Consent Order, Order for Restitution, and
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty, or the Consent Order, dated August 7, 2012, issued by the FDIC to settle such
alleged violations.  Pursuant to the terms of the Consent Order, we neither admitted nor denied any charges when
agreeing to the terms of the Consent Order. Under the terms of the Consent Order, we are required to, among other
things, review and revise our compliance management system and, to date, we have substantially revised our
compliance management system. Additionally, the Consent Order provides for restrictions on the charging of certain
fees. The Consent Order further provides that we shall make restitution to less than 2% of our customers since 2008
for fees previously assessed, which restitution has been substantially completed through the voluntary customer credit
plan described above, and pay a civil money penalty of $110,000.  We remain subject to the jurisdiction and
examination of the FDIC and further action could be taken to the extent we do not comply with the terms of the
Consent Order or if the FDIC were to identify additional violations of certain applicable laws and regulations.

Since 2012, we have received and responded to inquiries and information requests from certain federal
legislators.  These requests sought information related to our financial aid refund processing and the related services
which we provide to students.  Certain federal legislators have also sent communications regarding similar matters to
various federal agencies, including the U.S. Department of Education and the Consumer Financial Protection
Bureau.  These inquiries or others could lead to further action by these or other governmental actors or agencies,
including the introduction of legislation or new regulations, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Fees for financial services are subject to increasingly intense legislative and regulatory scrutiny, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects for future growth.
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A substantial portion of our revenue is generated from interchange fees, ATM fees, non-sufficient funds fees, other
banking services fees and convenience fees. These fees, as well as the financial services industry in general, have
undergone or may undergo substantial changes in the near future. For example, in 2013 we made certain changes to
our fee schedule, including removal of a fee that was assessed to abandoned accounts, removal of a fee that was
assessed to customers that have not repaid an overdraft balance within an allotted time period, institution of a
maximum daily amount of non-withdrawal ATM fees and a decrease in the types of transactions that can produce an
insufficient funds fee. These, and other potential changes we may make in the future, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects for future growth.

 In 2010, the Dodd-Frank Act became law. The Dodd-Frank Act increased the already substantial regulation and
oversight of the financial services industry and imposed restrictions on the ability of firms within the industry,
including us, to conduct business consistent with historical practices. Among other things, the Dodd-Frank Act created
the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or the CFPB, to regulate any person engaged in a "financial activity" in
connection with a consumer financial product or service, including those, such as us, that process financial services
products and services. The CFPB has assumed regulatory authority for many of the consumer protection laws to
which we and our Bank Partners are subject and may have direct supervisory authority over us. The CFPB also has
authority to issue and enforce regulations relating to consumer financial protection designed to prevent unfair,
deceptive, and abusive practices in the offering of consumer financial products. In early 2013, the CFPB issued a
request for information regarding financial products marketed to students enrolled in institutions of higher education,
and in September 2013, the CFPB hosted a forum on this topic at which selected members of the public, including
students and representatives from institutions, state government agencies and the U.S. Department of Education were
invited to present and some of the participants expressed opinions that were unfavorable of us. We cannot predict
what the CFPB may ultimately do in this area.
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The Dodd-Frank Act also required changes to the manner in which merchants accept and process certain debit- and
credit-card transactions. Specifically, the Dodd-Frank Act, subject to certain exemptions, requires the Federal Reserve
to impose limits on debit card interchange fees tied principally to the cost of processing the transaction, which may
have the result of decreasing revenue to debit card issuers and processors. On October 1, 2011, the Federal Reserve's
final rule implementing these limits on debit card interchange fees became effective. Issuers such as our Bank Partners
that, together with their affiliates, have less than $10 billion in assets are exempt from the debit card interchange fee
standards, although they are subject to the prohibitions on network exclusivity and routing restrictions. Nevertheless,
it is anticipated that smaller issuers, such as our Bank Partners, may also be impacted. Some federal, state, and local
government-administered payment programs that use debit cards are exempt from this interchange fee restriction.

Additionally, the Dodd-Frank Act permits merchants to offer a discount or other incentive to encourage use of one
form of payment over another. Furthermore, the Dodd-Frank Act, as implemented by the Federal Reserve Board's
final rule, prohibits an issuer or payment card network from restricting the number of payment card networks over
which an electronic debit transaction may be processed to fewer than two unaffiliated networks, or restricting the
ability of a merchant to direct the routing of electronic debit transactions over any of the networks that an issuer has
enabled to process the electronic debit transactions. The Dodd-Frank Act also allows merchants to set minimum
purchase thresholds for credit card transactions, provided such thresholds do not exceed $10, and it permits
institutions of higher education and federal agencies – which constitute many of our clients – to impose maximum dollar
amounts for credit-card purchases. Individual state legislatures are also reviewing interchange fees, and legislators in a
number of states have proposed bills that purport to limit interchange fees or merchant discount rates or to prohibit
their application to portions of a transaction.

Federal and state regulatory agencies also frequently propose and adopt changes to their regulations or change the
manner in which existing regulations are applied. We cannot predict the substance or impact of pending or future
legislation or regulation, or the application thereof, although changes to existing law could affect how we and our
Bank Partners operate and could significantly increase costs, impede the efficiency of internal business processes and
limit our ability to pursue business opportunities in an efficient manner.

The scope and impact of many of the Dodd-Frank Act's provisions, including those noted above, will continue to be
determined through the rule making process. As a result, we cannot predict the ultimate impact of the Dodd-Frank Act
on us or our Bank Partners at this time, nor can we predict the impact or substance of other future legislation or
regulation. However, we believe that the Dodd-Frank Act, other changes in regulation, including the Regulation E
changes summarized below, and legislation under consideration by the states, could affect how we and our Bank
Partners operate by significantly reducing the interchange fees, ATM fees, non-sufficient fund fees, other banking
services fees and convenience fees charged in respect of our services and that drive our financial results. These
regulatory and legislative changes could also increase our costs, impede the efficiency of our internal business
processes or limit our ability to pursue business opportunities in an efficient manner. The occurrence of any of these
risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The length and unpredictability of the sales cycle for signing potential higher education institution clients could delay
new sales of our products and services, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The sales cycle between our initial contact with a potential higher education institution client and the signing of a
contract with that client can be lengthy. As a result of this lengthy sales cycle, our ability to forecast accurately the
timing of revenues associated with new sales is limited. Our sales cycle varies widely due to significant uncertainties,
over which we have little or no control, including:

•
the individual decision-making processes of each higher education institution client, which typically include extensive
and lengthy evaluations and require us to spend substantial time, effort and money educating each client about the
value of our products and services;
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•the budgetary constraints and priorities and budget cycle of each higher education institution client; and
•the reluctance of higher education staff to change or modify existing processes and procedures

In addition, there is no guarantee that a potential client will sign a contract with us even after we spend substantial
time, effort and money on the potential client. Recently, the duration of the sales process has lengthened due in part to
the current regulatory environment and the uncertainty that it presents. A delay in our ability or a failure to enter into
new contracts with potential higher education institution clients could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description

31.1 Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18
U.S.C. Section 1350).

31.2 Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18
U.S.C. Section 1350).

32.1  (1)Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18
U.S.C. Section 1350).

32.2  (1)Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18
U.S.C. Section 1350).

101.INS  (2)XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH  (2)XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL (2)XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF  (2)XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB (2)XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE  (2)XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

(1)

The material contained in Exhibit 32.1 and Exhibit 32.2 is not deemed "filed" with the SEC and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation
language contained in such filing, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

(2)

Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL related information in Exhibits 101 to this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q shall not be deemed to be "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or otherwise subject to liability under that section, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any
registration statement or other document filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except as expressly
set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: November 8, 2013

Higher One
Holdings,
Inc.

/s/ Mark
Volchek
Mark
Volchek
Chief
Executive
Officer
(Duly
authorized
officer and
principal
executive
officer) 

/s/
Christopher
Wolf
Christopher
Wolf
Chief
Financial
Officer
(Duly
authorized
officer and
principal
financial
officer) 
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